
EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Notice of Meeting 

Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
Councillor Angell (Chair),  
Councillor Virgo (Vice-Chairman),  
Councillors Mrs Birch, Brossard, Gbadebo, MJ Gibson, Mrs Mattick, 
Mrs McKenzie-Boyle, McLean, Mossom, Porter and Temperton 
  
Thursday 1 September 2022, 6.30 pm 
Council Chamber - Time Square, Market Street, Bracknell, RG12 
1JD and online 

 

 

Agenda 

Item Description Page 
 
1.  Apologies for Absence   

 To receive apologies for absence and to note the attendance of any 
substitute Members. 

 

 
2.  Minutes of previous meeting  5 - 6 

 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Commission held on 7 July 2022. 

 

 
3.  Declarations of Interest and Party Whip   

 Members are asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary or affected 
interests and the nature of that interest, including the existence and nature of 
the party whip, in respect of any matter to be considered at this meeting. 
 
Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in a matter should 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is under consideration and 
should notify the Democratic Services Officer in attendance that they are 
withdrawing as they have such an interest. If the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest is not entered on the register of Members interests the Monitoring 
Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 days. 
 
Any Member with an Affected Interest in a matter must disclose the interest 
to the meeting.  There is no requirement to withdraw from the meeting when 
the interest is only an affected interest, but the Monitoring Officer should be 
notified of the interest, if not previously notified of it, within 28 days of the 
meeting. 

 

 
4.  Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 

 
5.  Public Participation   

 To receive submissions from members of the public which have been 
submitted in advance in accordance with the Council’s Public Participation 

 



EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 
If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately.  Follow the green signs.  Use the stairs 
not the lifts.  Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

Scheme for Overview and Scrutiny. 
 
6.  Public Health Update  7 - 42 

 To consider the Public Health update report detailing what has been 
achieved over the past three years and future priorities. 

 

 
7.  Council Plan Overview Report  43 - 70 

 Council Plan Overview Report (CPOR) covering the first quarter of 2022/23 is 
attached. 
  
Members of the Commission are asked to submit technical or detailed 
questions in advance of the meeting. 

 

 
8.  Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel Report: 

Integrated Enforcement  
71 - 88 

 To consider the draft Integrated Enforcement review report prepared by the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel for submission 
to the Executive on 20 September 2022. 

 

 
9.  Work Programme Update  89 - 92 

 Overview and Scrutiny Panel Chairs to provide verbal updates on the work 
programme and highlight any proposed changes such as scope, scheduling 
or duration. 
  
The Commission to consider the scope for the Child Criminal Exploitation 
review from the Education, Skills and Growth Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

 

Date of next meeting 

The next Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting is scheduled for 6 October 2022. 

Forward plan and decisions taken 

Commission members are able to view upcoming decisions by looking at Browse forward 
plans | Bracknell Forest Council (bracknell-forest.gov.uk) and consider decisions taken since 
the last Commission meeting by using this link What's newly published | Bracknell Forest 
Council (bracknell-forest.gov.uk) and altering the date range. 
Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media is permitted.  Please 
contact Kirsty Hunt, 01344 353108, kirsty.hunt@bracknell-forest.gov.uk, so that any special 
arrangements can be made. 
Published: 23 August 2022 

https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgPlansHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION 
7 JULY 2022 
6.30 - 7.00 PM 
  

Present Virtually: 
Councillors Angell (Chair), Virgo (Vice-Chair), Mrs Birch, Brossard, Gbadebo, MJ Gibson, 
Mrs Mattick, McLean and Temperton 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
Councillors Mrs McKenzie-Boyle, Mossom and Porter 
Executive Members Present Virtually: 
Councillor Mrs Hayes 

10. Minutes of previous meeting  
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Commission held on 9 June 2022 
be approved as a correct record, and signed by the Chair.  

11. Declarations of Interest and Party Whip  
There were no declarations of interest made. 
 
There were no indications that members would be participating while under the party 
whip. 

12. Urgent Items of Business  
There were no items of urgent business.  

13. Public Participation  
No submissions had been made by members of the public under the Council’s Public 
Participation Scheme for Overview and Scrutiny.  

14. Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel Report: Integrated 
Enforcement  
The Chair of the Commission advised that as both the Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel were unable to attend 
the meeting to present the report so it would fall to other members of that panel to 
answer questions. Members present commented that the clarity and presentation of 
the report was excellent and thanked the officer supporting the review, Joey Gurney 
for the quality of the information provided. Arising from the discussion the following 
queries were raised: 

• the report lacked examples of when each appropriate officer would be looking 
at their area to have enforcement 

• the review did not appear to have considered the frustration of the timescales 
for resolving enforcement issues, it was acknowledged that there was a 
crossover with different authorities working together and that it does take a lot 
of time to work through and get a proper outcome  

3

Item 2



 

• it was queried whether there were enough parking attendants working within 
the borough 

• the level of success of enforcement court cases was queried 
 

It was noted that some of the queries raised fed into the rationale for the proposed 
companion review.  
 
The Commission agreed to defer the decision whether to endorse the 
recommendations within the Integrated Enforcement review report for 
submission to the Executive until the next meeting of the Commission, when 
the Chair, Councillor Porter, would be able to address the issues raised 
directly. 

15. Work Programme Update  
Each Panel Chair in attendance provided a verbal update on work programme 
progress.  
 
Education, Skills and Growth Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
The SEND review was due to be completed in July 2022 but had taken longer 
because of the extensive investigative work being undertaken. Panel members had 
visited SEND units in schools and special needs settings and interviewed a number 
of witnesses. The draft review recommendations would be discussed with 
representatives from the local authority and health partners on 18 July 2022. The final 
report would be available for discussion at the September Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission meeting. In response to a question, the Chair stated that the SEND 
department needed to be reorganised, that SEND data was not being collected in the 
right way for management to monitor activity and that the panel were pleased this 
had been recognised and was being worked on by officers. 
 
The next review had been scoped and was being called ‘Child Criminal Exploitation’ 
instead of ‘County Lines’. County Lines had been widened since the pandemic as 
during lockdown methods of undertaking activities morphed into something else 
broader.  
 
The Education, Skills and Growth Panel would meet on 28 September 2022 to reflect 
on what the Panel had achieved in the last three years in order to evaluate what had 
gone well and what could be improved. 
 
Health and Care Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
The Health and Care Panel would meet on 19 July 2022 to discuss the impact of the 
review on blue badges and how the recommendations had been carried out. The 
meeting would also discuss the next project for the Panel to review. It was planned to 
bring the scope to the next Overview and Scrutiny Commission meeting for 
consideration. 
 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 
The Commission agreed the Enforcement Strategy review scope.  

CHAIRMAN 

4



Overview and Scrutiny Commission
1st September 2022

5

Item
 6



Public Health
Stuart Lines
Joint Director of 
Public Health
Slough, Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead, 
Bracknell Forest
Frimley 

Heema Shukla
Deputy Director: 
Public Health
Bracknell Forest

Andrew Hunter
Executive Director: 
Place, Planning and 
Regeneration
Bracknell Forest

6



Content

• What have we achieved in  the last 3 years?
• Organisation of Public Health in E Berkshire 
• Public Health perspective of ‘health’
• Function and standards for public health 

system
• A snapshot of health in Bracknell
• What are the priorities emerging from the Joint 

Strategic Needs Assessment
• What are our plans for delivering further 

improvements in health and wellbeing of our 
residents : Health and wellbeing strategy 

7



Achievements in last 3 years

Transformation of public health from pan Berkshire to East 
Berkshire and Berkshire west in line with Frimley NHS and BOB 
NHS footprint
Workforce

• Recruitment to permanent posts – Director and Deputy 
Director, Consultant in Public Health 

• Recruitment to permanent posts for full team (except CPH) 
in Bracknell Forest

Health Protection 
• Response to COVID pandemic working with partners 
• Local outbreak management plan  
• Real time surveillance and reporting
• Test and Track
• Advise and information to settings and public on keeping 

safe and prevention
Bracknell Forest Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2022-2026 
published

8



Public Health System in East 
Berkshire

Joint Director of Public Health between the three 
local authorities and Frimley ICS

Local deputy director of public health in each of the 
three boroughs 

The new public health system formed in 2020 in Berkshire is led 
by a jointly director of public health across the three local 
authorities and the Frimley CCG (now Frimley ICS) . 
Each local authority has a local public health team led by a 
deputy director of public health reporting to the DPH and an 
Executive director of the Council9



Health – a public health perspective
Wider influences on our health and 
wellbeing 

10



Functions and Standards of 
Public Health System

There are four key functions of a public health 
system 
• Health improvement 
• Public health healthcare: Health Services
• Health protection 
• Workforce development 

These are described by the Faculty Public Health 
– the professional standard setting body 
Faculty of Public Health: Functions and standards 
of a Public Health System 
 fph_systems_and_function-final-v2.pdf 

11

https://www.fph.org.uk/media/3030/fph_systems_and_function-final-v2.pdf


Health Improvement Functions 

• Needs assessment: Strategically assess the 
health and wellbeing needs of the local 
population

• Programme development: Commission and 
develop appropriate and effective health and 
wellbeing initiatives

• Partnership working: Strategic partnerships for 
health and wellbeing

• Community development: Enable and support 
communities  

• Advocacy :Act as advocates for health
• Sustainability: Build sustainable capacity and 

resources 
• Evidence and Evaluation: Develop the evidence 

and evaluate the programmes

12



Public Health Healthcare: Health 
Services Functions
• Health service commissioning: support 

effective and cost effective health services 
commissioning

• Health and social care service prioritisation
• Equity: Equity of service provision 
• Quality: Ensure clinical governance and  

continuous improvement
• Evaluation: Provide healthcare audit, 

evaluation and research
• Safety: Ensure patient safety in any health-

related services provided by the local authority
• Healthcare development: Contribute to 

healthcare development and planning
• Leadership for healthcare 

13



Health Protection Functions

• Outbreak prevention and control: Develop 
outbreak prevention and control plans

• Emergency Planning: Ensure emergency and 
major incident preparedness

• Risk management: Communicate advice on 
threats to health and act to reduce risks

• Infection control: Local infection control work
• Outbreak management: Outbreak and incident 

control
• Monitor threats: Monitor and advise on risks to 

health
• Immunisation: Advise on immunisation and 

vaccination

14



Workforce Development

• Leadership: Provide leadership for the 
professional development of the public health 
team

• Capacity building: Ensure access to learning 
opportunities for all public health staff

• Specialty Training: Support the training of 
specialty registrar in public health 

15



The legislative framework for 
delivering the public health  
functions
Health and Social Care Act 2012: Amended  in 
2022 

Health Improvement 
• Local authorities have legal duty to improve the 

health of their local population including oral 
health and public health in prisons 

• The Secretary of State has the overall 
responsibility for health improvement  with 
national function delegated to PHE (now 
OHID)

Health protection which was delegated to PHE (now 
UKHSA)

• The secretary of State has the duty on health 
protection which is delegated to UKHSA 

16



Legislative Framework
The Local Authorities (Public Health Functions 
and Entry to Premises by Local Healthwatch 
Representatives) Regulations 2013

Local authorities have responsibility for a range of public health 
services previously provided by the NHS 

• Open access sexual health services 
• Services to address drug or alcohol misuse
• Children’s public health services from pregnancy to age 5, including health 

visiting 
• 5-19 School nursing 
• NHS Health Checks
• Childhood obesity surveillance –Childhood height and weight measurement 
• Provide or make arrangements to secure the provision of a public health 

advice service, in relation to their powers and duties to commission health 
services, to any Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) –now ICS

• Provide information and advice to certain persons and bodies within their area 
in order to promote the preparation of, or participation in, health protection 
arrangements against threats to the health of the local population, including 
infectious disease, environmental hazards and extreme weather events. 

17



Resources to Deliver Public 
Health Functions
Bracknell Forest Council receives a ring-fenced grant of 
£4,390,747 for 2022-2023
Table provides the plan to spend the grant in 2022-2023

18



National Public Health Outcomes 
Framework

Overarching indicators
Wider 

Determinants
Health 

Improvement
Health 

Protection
Healthcare 

and 
Premature 
Mortality

PHE (now Office of Health Improvement-OHID) and disparities publishes 
dashboard of monitoring progress and compare against goals. Public 
Health Outcomes Framework - OHID (phe.org.uk)

19

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework


Health in Bracknell Forest
The population and health profile as well as the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment for Bracknell Forest can be found at the new JSNA website 
Berkshire East JSNA (berkshirepublichealth.co.uk)

Population of Bracknell Forest (2021)
According to the latest census data from the ONS the total population of 
Bracknell Forest was 124,600 of which 61,400 were male and 63,200. 
This represents an increase of 10.1% since the 2011 census.

Life expectancy
Life expectancy at birth for male and female infants in the period 2016-
2020 was 81.8 years and 82.0 years, respectively. Health life expectancy in 
the period 2018-2020 was 66.4 years for male infant and 66.5 years for 
female infants. 

Infants born in the most deprived wards had lower life expectancy than 
those born in the least deprived wards. Within the borough, there was a 10 
year age gap in male infant life expectancy between Warfield Harvest Ride 
ward (88.5 years) and Wildridings and Central (78.2 years)

20

https://www.berkshirepublichealth.co.uk/jsna/
https://bracknell-forest.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/#/view-report/63aeddf1d7fc44b8b4dffcd868e84eac/___iaFirstFeature/G3


Performance of Services (KPI)

• Health visiting
• Smoking 
• Weight Management 
• NCMP
• Sexual health 
• NHS Health Checks
• Drugs and Alcohol 

In addition to annual indicators published by OHID we 
monitor quarterly the KPI on key services contracts

21



Key Public Health Priorities
(based on 2020-21 data )
Bracknell Forest has on average a healthier population 
across all ages compared to national average
On some indicators , it has similar profile as national 
profile, but the rates are high

• Childhood obesity – 1 in 4 reception year children 
and 1 in 3 year 6 children are overweight 
(including obese)

• Obesity in pregnancy (21% ) 
• Percentage of adults overweight or obese (63.5%)
• Proportion of adults who are physically inactive 

(22%)

It has significantly poorer (or worse profile) on 
• Percentage of looked after children whose 

emotional wellbeing is a cause of concern (58%)
• Hospital admissions for mental health conditions 

under 18 years of age (138.7 /100,000 crude 
rates)

22



Post Covid Issues

• Emotional health of children and young people
• People with existing mental health illness and 

timely access to appropriate services
• Social isolation across all age groups access to 

a range of activities
• Long Covid 
• Increase in cardiovascular risk (including stroke 

and diabetes)

23



Bracknell Forest Health and Wellbeing 
strategy 2022-2026 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy published | Bracknell 
Forest Council (bracknell-forest.gov.uk)

24

https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/news/2022/06/health-and-wellbeing-strategy-published
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/news/2022/06/health-and-wellbeing-strategy-published
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/news/2022/06/health-and-wellbeing-strategy-published
https://www.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/news/2022/06/health-and-wellbeing-strategy-published


25



Public Health Team workplan 
2022-2023
• Next few slides provide some examples  of current 

programmes in addition to the prescribed services that 
public team have developed and implemented in 2022
• Tackling obesity
• Health in all policies
• Enhancing community map post COVID
• Physical activity offer to residents
• Increasing awareness and skills in mental 

health for non-NHS customer facing staff
• Social Prescribing- community approach 
• Winter resilience 

26



Addressing Obesity – Whole 
System Approach and Weight 
Management

We are addressing obesity by

• Tackling the wider determinants of obesity by whole systems 
approach .External support has been commissioned from 
University of Southampton. 

• Commissioned Adult and Children weight management services 

27



A case study from weight 
management service

28



Health in All Policies (HIAP) 
Framework
Purpose is to Maximise the health gains for our residents 
through all of  council’s programmes, policies and services

29



Health in All Policies (HiAP) 
Progress

• Health and wellbeing considerations added to CMT 
Report template.

• Developing procurement guidance to achieve added 
value in contracts by embedding health and 
wellbeing components into specifications.

• Local Government Association support and one to 
one interviews to ascertain strengths and 
opportunities for HiAP.

• Development of an Integrated Impact Assessment 
(IIA) tool to assist with examining the impact of 
programmes by considering health and wellbeing and 
wider determinants of health.

• Series of workshops with council colleagues and 
partners to operationalise the HiAP Framework and 
adoption of the IIA tool.

30



Enhancing the Community Map
Review and relaunch an improved 
version of the current community 
map working with wider 
stakeholders
• Working with users to 

understand barriers to access
• Review and acquire new 

software 
• Review of current assets
• Steering group to enabling co-

production on both the utility of 
the map and training.

• Expand children and young 
people’s offer

• Development of a training offer 
for partners to support use of 
the map with their clients

• Enhance support offer for 
community groups – promotion

• Extensive communications plan 
and launch event

31



Improving the Physical Activity 
Offer Across All Ages and 
Abilities
Bracknell forest physical activity  network group 
established (Jan 2022)

• Mapping of current activity and gaps across life 
course

• A workshop planned to share the mapping 
(October 22)

Service review and planning
• Fit4All restarted and plans to expand 
• Senior swimming (with Everyone Active + Leisure 

Service Commissioner)
• Tai-Chi over 50 + (In partnership With Age 

Concern)
• Active GP Practice (In partnership with 
RINGMEAD Medical Practice – Health Walks) 

• Physical Activity for people with mental health 
issues, learning difficulties sensory and physical 
disabilities  (In partnership with Everyone Active )

32



Public Mental Health – Children 
and Young People
• Promote the MindEd training 

on Eating Disorders with 
professionals

• Develop a Healthy Schools 
Programme to be offered to 
all schools, underpinned by 
a whole school approach to 
promoting children and 
young people’s mental 
health and wellbeing

• Develop and deliver a self-
harm workforce project to 
enable professionals to 
come together to better 
understand self-harm

• Enhance the Young Health 
Champions offer 

33

https://mindedhub.org.uk/children-young-people-ed-page/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020249/Promoting_children_and_young_people_s_mental_health_and_wellbeing.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020249/Promoting_children_and_young_people_s_mental_health_and_wellbeing.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020249/Promoting_children_and_young_people_s_mental_health_and_wellbeing.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1020249/Promoting_children_and_young_people_s_mental_health_and_wellbeing.pdf


Public Mental Health

• Commissioned a mental health awareness 
training to non-NHS customer facing staff

• Develop a bespoke Bracknell Forest pledge to 
reduce mental health stigma with employers

• Improve physical health of people with mental 
ill-health by developing an outreach services to 
reduce health inequalities and premature 
deaths from  smoking and obesity 

• Mapping a local offer around the 10-point 
suicide prevention plan across Berkshire

• Develop an easy access, public facing needs-
based service directory and marketing and 
communications campaign to raise awareness 
of Mental health services 

34



Social Prescribing Community 
Transformation

• Digital transformation to track referrals and 
data capture completed. 

• A community development approach 
implemented by meeting clients in 
community spaces. 17% of referrals came 
from Adult Social Care, 13% self-referral, 
10% voluntary sector, 7% drug and alcohol 
service. Other sources are talking therapies, 
rough sleeper team, DWP and Macmillan 
cancer trust. 

• 22.3% of referrals have loneliness as a key 
need

• Carrying out ward mapping exercise to set 
up community groups / support groups 
where there are currently none available. 
For example, facilitating a men’s mental 
health group within a Silva Homes 
residential scheme.

• offering support to Bracknell Ukrainian 
Family Support team

35



Health Protection – Preparing for 
Winter Resilience

36



Monitoring our workplan 
Dashboard

Area of work: Mental Health 
Awareness 
Lead: Louise M Duffy & Alberta Kattah
Reporting Quarter : Q2 (2022)

37



On the Horizon

• Developing the healthcare public heath 
function with the ICS

• Assessing the dual impact of COVID and cost 
of living on the health and wellbeing of our 
residents

• Workforce –recruitment and  retention in public 
health services

 

38



Any questions?39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  Annex A 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
COUNCIL PLAN 
OVERVIEW 
REPORT  
 
 

 
 
 
 
Q1 2022- 23 
April – June 2022 
 
 
Chief Executive: 
Timothy Wheadon 

41

Item 7



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 2 

Contents 
 
Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary ...............................................................................2 
Section 2: Budget Position .......................................................................................................7 
Section 3: Strategic Themes ..................................................................................................11 

Value for money .................................................................................................................11 
Economic resilience ...........................................................................................................13 
Education and skills ............................................................................................................14 
Caring for you and your family ...........................................................................................17 
Protecting and enhancing our environment ........................................................................19 

Section 4: Corporate Health ...................................................................................................23 
a) Summary of People ........................................................................................................23 
b) Summary of Complaints .................................................................................................25 
c) Strategic Risks and Audits .............................................................................................26 

 
 
 
Key  
 

 Performance is good or on-track 

 Performance is causing concern 

 Performance is weak or not achieving as expected 

 RAG rating not applicable  

 Missing data 

 
Missing target 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

42



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 3 

Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary 
 
1 Introduction  
 
1.1 This report sets out an overview of the council’s performance for the first quarter of 

2022/23 (April - June 2022). It reports on the progress of delivering the commitments 
set out in the Council Plan. The purpose is to formally provide the Executive with a 
high-level summary of key achievements, and to highlight areas where performance 
was not matching targets or expectations, along with any remedial action that is 
being taken.  It complements the detailed directorate Quarterly Service Reports 
(QSRs). 
 

1.2 This is the first quarterly report of the 2022/23 financial year, and it reflects the 
changes made to the list of service plan actions as part of our annual service plan 
refresh.  As part of this refresh, the previous COVID-19 activities have been 
absorbed into business as usual. With the new actions in place, at the end of the first 
quarter progress showed:  
 
Out of all 118 Actions-  
 

• 109 are in progress with 88 having Green RAG and 19 Amber.  
• 8 Actions are completed with Green RAG. 
• Only 1 Action has not yet started but this is on track as it has a Green RAG.  

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Missing Data, 3
Not started, 1

Completed, 8

109 
In Progress

Red , 0

Amber, 19

Green, 87

Missing Data Not started Completed Red Amber Green

Actions Status 

43



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 4 

 
 

 
1.3 Indicators have continued to be included in this quarters CPOR, however as the 

majority of these were established at the start of the council plan period, in 2019, 
many are no longer particularly relevant to measuring effective performance. For Q1 
there were 54 indicators presented. The status for the key indicators in the Council 
Plan in the first quarter is: 
 
 

 
     
1.4  Section 3 of this report contains more information on the performance indicators and 

measures across the council for each of the strategic themes.  Again, the picture was 
positive despite the continued turbulence of COVID-19 and growing national 
economic pressures.   

 
 
 

2.             Overview of Q1 and highlights  
 
2.1 Teams continued to deliver services to a high standard during the period. I have 

highlighted here a small selection of examples from across the organisation. 
 
2.2  Staff continue to work mostly from home, though an increasing number are starting to 

return to the office. The office was formally reopened to the public from 4 April 2022 
and staff have been increasingly using the new facilities such as the Forest Café.  

 
2.3 Across the council, teams have been involved in the local response to the Ukraine 

conflict and the arrivals under both the Family Visa Scheme and the Homes for 
Ukraine scheme. At the end of Q1, 82 guests had arrived, with another 71 expected, 
mainly staying with local families in ‘sponsorship’ arrangements. Multiple new 
processes had to be established in a short timescale, to meet the requirements of 
central government. Close partnership working has been in place with all Berkshire 
unitary authorities. Links have continued to be strengthened through community 
engagement and with the voluntary and community sector.  

 
2.4 Several highly successful events were held in the town centre during Q1. In the 

Easter holidays, the Forest Springs event included art installations and interactive 

9

6

19

15

1

4

Red Amber Green Monitoring only Not started Missing data 

Indicators status

44



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 5 

activities which received a positive public and media response. There was also a 
series of events over the Platinum Jubilee weekend, including live music, which 
further increased the footfall and engagement with the town centre.  

 
2.5 Another notable milestone was the opening of the Heathlands facilities by His Royal 

Highness the Duke of Gloucester on 17 May. The site provides specialist services to 
patients with intermediate care and dementia care needs, all under one roof. It has 
been a successful partnership project between Bracknell Forest Council, Frimley 
CCG, Frimley Health NHS Foundation Trust and Windsor Care, allowing health and 
care staff to work together to benefit local people. 

 
2.6 Looking more broadly at health, the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy was 

approved and published in Q1. This is another example of the close working between 
the council, health and the voluntary and community sector which sets out vision for 
the future health and wellbeing of Bracknell Forest residents. It aims to drive positive 
change by reducing health inequalities and improving the health of people who live, 
work and study in the borough. This new strategy will guide activity for the next four 
years and focus on six areas of priority.  

 
2.7 · With the People directorate services, Ofsted undertook a face-to-face inspection of 

the Children's Services under the ILACS framework in early June. The inspection 
took place over two weeks looking at the effectiveness of leadership and 
management and the impact and outcomes of front-line services for children and 
families, as well as progress made since the last time we were inspected. The 
outcomes report was subsequently published at the end of July and showed that the 
overall effectiveness of our children’s services is “outstanding” – the highest rating 
possible and one not achieved by many Councils.  To have moved from “good” (with 
outstanding features) in 2017 to overall “outstanding” in 2022 through the challenges 
of the pandemic has certainly been a magnificent achievement. 

 
2.8 In June the council was also recognised as Local Authority of the Year in the South-

East Regional Energy Efficiency Awards. This award recognises and celebrates the 
energy best practice shown by the council including: 

• conducting improvement work to the borough’s most fuel inefficient homes, almost 
700 households in the past year 

• consulting with new developments in the borough to ensure they meet renewable 
energy requirements 

• bidding for government grants to fund future improvement work, such as insulation 
and cavity walls to make homes in the borough more energy efficient 

• identifying homes still using electric storage heaters and connecting them to the 
mains gas network 
Through the council’s efforts, Bracknell Forest has now been named as having the 
5th lowest number of people in fuel poverty in the UK and efforts will continue to 
reduce this further. 

 
2.9 Internally, the significant infrastructure project to transfer the council’s telephony to 

Microsoft Teams has now been completed. Feedback from staff has been positive 
with no negative impact on council operations during the transfer. This provides more 
effective use of the existing Microsoft package. 

 
2.10 Further internal developments have included the refresh and relaunch of the council’s 

values. The simplified values focus on being “Inclusive, Ambitious and Always 
Learning”. These are being integrated across various branding and guidance 
including within the 2022 appraisals, job adverts and the newly developed ‘learning 
hub’.  

 

45



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 6 

2.11 In picking out these highlights there is a real danger of overlooking the special efforts 
of teams who are not mentioned.  The simple fact is that the whole organisation 
continues to deliver significant progress and effective services. 

 
What are we doing about things not going so well? 

 
3.1 COVID-19 has continued to prove a challenge to services, as the case numbers were 

very high during Q1. This impacted staff sickness levels however, in the main, 
services were able to continue operating. The council has extended the offer of free 
LFT to encourage all staff to test before coming to their place of work. There also 
continues to have access to hand sanitiser and desk wipes throughout the office. 
This aims to minimise the risk of transmission between staff and therefore containing 
the wider spread as well.  

 
3.2 The February 2022 Ofsted report into the council’s and our partners special 

educational needs and disability services focused the priority to develop a Written 
Statement of Action (WSOA). This was created with partners and service users to 
detail our plans for improvement. The WSOA was submitted to Ofsted in June and 
accepted without the need for any further amendments. This again is unusual, but 
indicative of the strong commitment and effective plan for improvement. Delivering 
these improvements will continue to be a focus for the council and partners over this 
coming year. 

 
 
Forward Look 
 
Going forward, the council’s strategic objectives will continue to progress in the coming 
months albeit within the context of the council’s continued resilience to COVID-19 and in the 
context of the national economic challenges. It is likely that Q2 will continue to bring 
pressures around staff sickness, increasing cost of services and products and uncertainty 
related to national political and economic changes.  
 
 
 
 
 
Timothy Wheadon 
Chief Executive 

46



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 7 

Section 2: Budget Position   
REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 
 

The monthly monitoring returns are set out in detail in each directorate’s Quarterly Service 
Report (QSR).   

The returns include estimated best- and worst-case scenarios which reflect actual 
expenditure to date plus a range of financial predictions from Assistant Directors covering 
the remainder of the year. Across the Council, variances have been identified indicating 
expenditure is below the approved budget (-£1.950m Best Case and -£0.704m Worst Case) 
after taking into account the Corporate Contingency £1.833m.  

Inflation is a key risk to the budget, particularly the pay award where the initial offer of a 
£1,925 pay rise is significantly above the 2% allowance we have made. To meet additional 
inflationary costs, we have the remaining Corporate Contingency plus a new earmarked 
reserve created at the end of 2021/22 of £1.5m, specifically to help mitigate against 
inflationary cost increases. 

Key information around directorate variances being reported follows.  

 

 

47



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 8 

 

 

48



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 9 

 

 

49



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 11 

Section 3: Strategic Themes 
 

Value for money 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

51



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 12 

 
 
 

52



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 13 

Economic resilience 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82.0%

82.0%

53



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 14 

Education and skills 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

82.0%

82.0%

82.0%

54



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 15 

 

55



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 16 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 17 

 
 
 
 
 

Caring for you and your family 
 
 

57



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 18 

 
 

58



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 19 

 

 
 
 

 
 

59



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 20 

Protecting and enhancing our environment 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

60



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 21 

 
 

61



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 22 

Communities 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

62



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 20222-23  Page 23 

 
 
 
 

 
 

63



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 24 

Section 4: Corporate Health  
 
a) Summary of People  
 

Staff Voluntary Turnover 
 

Department Previous 
Figure* 

For the last 
4 quarters Notes 

People 15% 15.17%  

Delivery 13.22% 11.23%  

Resources 11.82% 12.22%  

PPR 12.16% 13.45%  

Chief Executive’s Office 10.91% 19.57%  

Total Voluntary Turnover 13.83% 14.22%  
    * This figure relates to the previous 4 quarters and is taken from the preceding CPOR.  
 

Comparator data % 
Total voluntary turnover for BFC, 21/22:                         13.83% 

Average voluntary turnover rate UK public sector 2020:                     8.8% 

Average Local Government England voluntary turnover 2020:   10% 

    (Source: XPertHR Labour Turnover Rates 2021 and LGA Workforce Survey 2021) 
 
 
Staff Sickness 
 

 

Department 
Quarter 1 

22/23 (days 
per employee) 

Previous Financial 
Year (Actual 

Average days per 
employee) 

2022/23 Estimated 
Annual Average 

(days per 
employee) 

Notes 

People 2.39 8.03 9.56  

Delivery 2.73 7.02 10.92  

PPR 1.94 3.69 7.76  

Resources 1.51 6.76 6.04  

Chief Executive’s 
Office 0.83 4.98 3.32 

 

Total staff 
sickness excluding 
maintained 
schools 

2.24 6.94 8.96 

 

 
 
 

64



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 25 

Comparator data All employees, average days 
sickness absence per employee 

Bracknell Forest Council (Non-Schools) 21/22                        6.94 

Public Sector employees 2021       6.4 

(Source: ONS Sickness absence in the UK labour market) 
 
People 
 
Absence this quarter is lower than last quarter. Long term sickness equates to 59% of the 
total absence this quarter which is slightly higher than last quarter.  Covid-19 levels are on 
the decrease equating to 14% of the absence this quarter compared to 26% last. 

 
Delivery 
 
Absence levels within the department have once again increased since the last quarter.  this 
quarter the number of days lost has risen by 9% to 511 working days.  Customer Experience 
levels have risen by 26% since the last quarter. 

Long term sickness equates to 56% of the absence which is similar to last quarter. Covid-19 
levels are also similar to last quarter with 22% of absence this quarter. 
 
 
Place, Planning and Regeneration 
 
Absence has almost doubled since last quarter with increases in all areas except Planning 
and the Shared Public Health Team.   

Long term sickness equates to 48% of the total sickness which is up from 10% last quarter, 
in particular this was an issue in Building Control. 

Covid-19 equates to 21% of the total sickness absence which is lower than last quarter. 

Resources 
 
Sickness levels within the Department have stayed pretty similar since the last quarter.  

Long term sickness equates to 52% of the total sickness this quarter while Covid-19 is 
attributable for 43% of the total sickness. 

Chief Executive’s Office 
 
Absence has decreased since the last quarter.   

There was no long-term sickness within the Department this quarter.  Covid-19 equates to 
69% of the total absence this quarter which is much higher than last quarter. 

 

 

 

65



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 26 

Complaints 
 

 
b) Summary of Complaints  
 
 
People: Adults 
There were 13 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, this is one more.  
 
People: Childrens 
There were 25 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up from 
18. This is 7 more.   
 
Central 
There were 6 complaints in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is down 
from 11.  This is 5 less.   
 
 
 

Department Type of 
complaint Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 

Total 
cumulative 
complaints 

Outcome of all complaints 
received year to date 

Statutory 

13    13 

4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
5 – partially upheld/partially 
substantiated 
4 – not upheld/not 
substantiated 

People: Adults 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0     

 

Statutory stage 1 

23    23 

4 – in progress 
4 – upheld/fully substantiated 
6 – partially upheld/partially 
substantiated 
6 – not upheld/not 
substantiated 
2 - no finding made 
1 – proceeded to stage 2 

Statutory stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 
Statutory stage 3 0    0 

 

Stage 2 1    1 1 - in progress 
Stage 3 0    0 

 

People: Childrens 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
  

Stage 2 1    1 1 - partially  
Stage 3 0    0  

People: Housing 
Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 0    0 

 
 
 
 
 

Stage 2 1    1 1 – in progress 
Stage 3 2    2 2 – not upheld 

Central 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

3    3 
1 – in progress 
2 – not upheld 

Stage 2 1    1 1 – not upheld 
Stage 3 0    0  

Delivery 

Local 
Government 
Ombudsman 

0    0 
 

66



 

 
CPOR – Quarter 1 2022/23  Page 27 

Delivery 
There was 1 complaint in quarter 1.  Compared to this time last year, the figure is up by 1 
from none. 
 
 

c) Strategic Risks and Audits  
 
During quarter 1 the Register was reviewed by the Strategic Risk Management Group on 
12th May 2022.  The following changes were agreed:  

• To reduce the staffing pressures risk  
• To increase the cyberattack risk; and  
• Reduce the COVID risk. 

The latest position on internal audits was included in the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management’s annual report presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 22nd 
June 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

67



This page is intentionally left blank



To: Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
1 September 2022 

  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Review of Integrated Enforcement Report 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

1 Purpose of Report 

1.1 To present the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s report 
to the Commission following the Panel’s review into enforcement services. 

1.2 To provide the advice of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer (SSO) to inform the 
Commission’s decision whether to endorse the Panel’s recommendations to the 
Executive.  

2 Recommendation 

2.1 That the Overview and Scrutiny Commission considers whether to endorse the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s 
recommendations to the Executive, as set out in the Panel report (attached as 
Appendix A) and paragraph 5.5 of this report, taking into account the 
comments of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer. 

3 Reasons for Recommendation 

3.1 It is the role of the SSO to advise the Council on any issues or concerns that may 
arise about the operation of the scrutiny function and the SSO may on occasion be 
required to make a determination about what the law says and how this should be 
applied to any particular situation. In carrying out this statutory role, there is a need to 
have a nuanced and meaningful understanding of the scrutiny function in order to 
accurately make judgments about its operation when disagreements or other issues 
arise. 

3.2 The SSO is responsible for ensuring that the scrutiny function is adequately 
resourced and that service departments and partners are contributing sufficiently to 
reviews to ensure that they are effective. 

3.3 The SSO is also responsible for providing advice to the Commission on whether the 
recommendations within review reports are robust, taking account of resource, legal, 
climate change, equalities, health and wellbeing and strategic risk implications. 

4 Alternative Options 

4.1 The Commission could decide: 

• to endorse the recommendations to the Executive (and others) as set out in the 
Panel’s report 

• to endorse the recommendations in part 
• to ask for further work to be undertaken before the report is submitted to the 

Executive recognising that this would delay the Panel’s next piece of work 

69

Item 8



• to note the Panel report and not make any recommendations to the Executive (or 
others) 

5 Supporting Information from the Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

5.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission commissioned the Environment and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel to carry out a review into integrated 
enforcement as part of the overview and scrutiny four-year work programme, which 
has been developed to track themes within the new Council Plan. 

5.2 In support of this review a broad range of witnesses gave evidence putting the Panel 
in a good position to use this intelligence to frame the review and produce insightful 
recommendations. 

5.3 The Panel was supported by Joey Gurney, Governance and Scrutiny Officer who 
supported the Panel to draw up the scope of the review and prepare an evidence 
pack of relevant information; to facilitate a number of Panel sessions to interview a 
range of contributors; to draw out findings from the Panel’s investigation, and to 
prepare a review report.  This involved in the region of 300 hours of scrutiny officer 
time and 12 hours of Panel meetings.   

5.4 In summary it is the Statutory Scrutiny Officer’s view that this review activity had 
adequate resources and that service departments contributed effectively to the 
review. The bulk of review activity took place between February 2022 and May 2022 
and was slightly delayed due to scheduling challenges. The comments from the 
relevant officers and partners set out below do not indicate any concerns with the 
proposed recommendations. 

5.5 The recommendations are: 
1. Introduce the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) as a new standard:  

• Provide appropriate officers with training, ensuring they become 
accredited.   

• Encourage other appropriate officers to participate in becoming accredited 
where practical and where resource is available. 

            The scheme should be introduced by January 2023. 
  

2. Introduce an allocation process where a team or officer is assigned as the lead for 
the duration of an enforcement case. This should be achieved by November 2022. 

 
3. Develop enforcement strategies encouraging greater collaboration across services 

and with partners. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its progress will 
be expected in 12 months’ time. It is recognised progress may be impacted by the 
outcomes of the Panel’s upcoming review of the Council’s enforcement strategies. 

 
4. Run regular educational and awareness campaigns on enforcement policies and 

activities for residents. This includes information campaigns on CSAS as it is 
introduced. Good enforcement should also be publicised and celebrated, particularly 
when it involves a joint working approach. This will be an ongoing process but an 
update on its progress will be expected in 12 months’ time. 

6 Commentary from Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
Chair, Councillor John Porter  

70



6.1 During this review it quickly became apparent how vast and complex enforcement 
can be. By its nature, enforcement in a local authority setting often requires 
collaboration between teams, services, and/or external partners. Therefore, the 
Panel wanted to explore whether a development of this collaborative approach, in the 
form of a more integrated model, could help to improve existing enforcement in the 
Bracknell Forest area. This was achieved by looking at the current enforcement 
structures and policies at the Council whilst exploring a range of best practices 
relating to integrated enforcement at other local authorities. 

6.2 By using the opportunity to speak to different local authorities about their own 
approach to enforcement, panel members have deepened their understanding of 
what good enforcement looks like and how this is reflected in council policy and 
activity. It was also particularly useful for the Panel to learn more on the Community 
Safety Accreditation Scheme by speaking with Thames Valley Police, and to learn of 
the productive partnerships the Council has with other enforcement actors such as 
the Police and the Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service.  

6.3 It was encouraging to discover that the Council is working hard to tackle well known 
issues associated with enforcement and it was pleasing to learn that a joint working 
approach across services and with external partners is often adopted by officers. 
The recommendations put forward by the Panel aim to further enhance these efforts 
to work collaboratively to ensure Bracknell Forest is a safer, cleaner and happier 
place to live.    

7 Response from Assistant Director for Contract Services 
7.1 There are a number of teams, in different departments across the Council that 

provide enforcement services and the panel heard evidence from them. As one of 
those teams we have been engaged throughout the scrutiny review process which 
has enabled us to share our good practice with the panel.  

 
7.2 The opportunity to present evidence of current enforcement work and share potential 

options for the future has been invaluable so that Councillors appreciate the 
complexity and breadth of enforcement activity.     

  
8 Consultation and Other Considerations 

Legal Advice 

8.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the recommendations in this 
report. 

Financial Advice 

8.2 Any actions arising from the recommendations are expected to be delivered within 
existing budgets.  

Equalities Impact Assessment 

8.3 The review scope, activities and recommendations were all considered in the initial 
equalities screening attached at Appendix B.  

Strategic Risk Management Issues  

71



8.4 The implications of poor enforcement performance would be reputational damage for 
the Council as there would be a potential for increased levels of low level and anti-
social crime, an inability to protect our highly valued green spaces and appearance of 
residential communities. At the same time this would undermine the basis of formal 
application and approvals processes described within the attached report.  

Climate Change Implications 

8.5 The recommendations in Section 2 and 5 above are expected to have no impact on 
emissions of CO2 because there is no suggested increase in activity or travel that 
would generate a change.  

Health & Wellbeing Considerations 

8.6 The Council is committed to actively protecting and enhancing the borough’s 
environment to keep it clean and green through enforcement. This supports Bracknell 
Forest being one of the heathiest places to live. Residents will therefore experience 
better health, both physical and mental. 

Background Papers 
None 
 
 
Contact for further information 
Kevin Gibbs, Statutory Scrutiny Officer - 01344 355621 
kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Joey Gurney, Governance & Scrutiny Officer - 01344 351743 
joey.gurney@bracknell-forest.gv.uk 
 

72

mailto:kevin.gibbs@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:joey.gurney@bracknell-forest.gv.uk


 

  Overview and Scrutiny Panel Report 
 
REVIEW TITLE O&S PANEL DATE 
Integrated Enforcement Environment and Communities 1 September 2022 

 
“During this review it quickly became apparent how vast 
and complex enforcement can be.  Nonetheless, it was 
encouraging to discover that the Council is working hard 
to tackle well known issues associated with enforcement 
and that a joint working approach is often adopted by 
officers.  By using the opportunity to speak to different 
local authorities about their own approach to 
enforcement, panel members have deepened their 
understanding of what good enforcement looks like and 
how this is reflected in council policy and activity, which 
can help to further strengthen enforcement at Bracknell 
Forest Council” 
 
Councillor John Porter,  
Chair: Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel 
 

  Recommendations  
 

1. Introduce the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) as a new standard:  
- Provide appropriate officers with training, ensuring they become accredited.   
- Encourage other appropriate officers to participate in becoming accredited where 

practical and where resource is available.  
The scheme should be introduced by January 2023. 
 

2. Introduce an allocation process where a team or officer is assigned as the lead for the 
duration of an enforcement case. This should be achieved by November 2022.  
 

3. Develop enforcement strategies encouraging greater collaboration across services and 
with partners. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its progress will be 
expected in 12 months’ time. It is recognised progress may be impacted by the outcomes 
of the Panel’s upcoming review of the Council’s enforcement strategies.  

 
4. Run regular educational and awareness campaigns on enforcement policies and 

activities for residents. This includes information campaigns on CSAS as it is introduced. 
Good enforcement should also be publicised and celebrated, particularly when it involves 
a joint working approach. This will be an ongoing process but an update on its progress 
will be expected in 12 months’ time.  

  Key findings 
 
The Panel found that:  
 
▪ Joint working is often necessary during enforcement cases. A proactive attitude is adopted 

by Bracknell Forest officers when crossover between teams is required.  
▪ There was evidence of productive partnerships with external agencies when carrying out 

enforcement activities  
▪ The Public Protection Partnership enables the Council to be flexible and resilient when 

responding to emerging crises and provides greater access to enforcement specialist areas 73



 

▪ CSAS is a useful enforcement tool available to local authorities that provides additional 
powers to an approved officer while further improving relationships with the police by 
enhancing intelligence sharing.  

▪ There is no one size fits all integrated enforcement model available to local authorities 
▪ Integration of enforcement services is not judged by senior officers or the lead Executive 

members to be beneficial financially or structurally 

  Introduction  
 
For local authorities, enforcement covers a wide range of services across various departments, 
organisations, and agencies. Local authorities regularly have to tackle difficult issues often 
associated with enforcement such as lengthy delays caused by complex cases, public 
misinformation and rapidly emerging crises. Some of these problems are likely to be exacerbated 
due to increasing financial constraints on local councils.  
 

Financial implications are highlighted throughout the report using this symbol.  
 
By its nature, enforcement in this context often requires collaboration between teams, services, 
and/or external partners. It is not unusual for an enforcement case to require crossover between 
departments and interventions from external organisations such as the police or fire service. 
Therefore, it is important a collaborative culture exists between all enforcement actors.  
 
As part of this review, the Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel wanted to 
explore whether a development of this collaborative approach, in the form of a more integrated 
model, could help to improve existing enforcement in Bracknell Forest. This would be achieved by 
looking at the current enforcement structures and policies at the Council while exploring a range of 
best practices relating to integrated enforcement from other local authorities.  
 
Throughout the review the Panel recognised that the range of services and enforcement activities 
that could be considered was vast and varied. Unregulated activity had the impact of being anti-
social, affecting local communities and impacting on community safety. In order to remain within the 
scope for this review, as originally commissioned by the Overview and Scrutiny Commission, the 
Panel focussed on those aspects which fell within the 'protecting and enhancing our environment' 
theme of the Council Plan, and not the 'communities' theme in which the phrase 'community safety' 
referred to activities to maintain good public order, reduce anti-social behaviour and combat drug 
related crime therefore, the council’s Community Safety Team was out of scope.  
 
The Panel identified and interviewed senior officers from Bracknell Forest Council including the 
Executive Director of Place, Planning and Regeneration, Assistant Director of Contract Services and 
the Head of the Public Protection Partnership, in addition to officers from partner organisations such 
as the Local Fire Authority and Thames Valley Police. Desk top analysis of policies and other 
relevant documents was also conducted by the Panel.  
 
As part of the Panel’s work on best practice in terms of enforcement they spoke to officers and 
looked at policies from other borough councils who have introduced different variations of an 
integrated enforcement model. This included interviewing the Assistant Director of Community 
Safety and Environmental Health from the Royal Borough of Greenwich who oversaw the 
implementation of the integrated enforcement model at Greenwich. 

 
Good practice is highlighted throughout this report using this symbol.  

 

  Review findings 
 

Place, Planning and Regeneration 
 
Enforcement is undertaken through: 

74



 

• Planning enforcement as a mechanism to uphold the integrity of the wider planning system 
to protect the public, businesses and the environment from unauthorised development and 
its harmful impacts. Potential breaches are examined and appropriate action determined by 
the Planning team.  

• Building Control officers use the powers to impose fines for contraventions of the Building 
Regulations and to remove or alter offending building work as appropriate, subject to a 
successful prosecution.  

• The Highways and Transport team manage: 
o street work permit enforcement and issue penalty fines for non-compliance or over-

run-on road space  
o overgrown vegetation notices, highway obstruction, failure to maintain ditches to 

recover all costs if there is a failure to comply 
o Advanced Payment Code (APC) notices, securing bond against unfinished new roads 

(debt applied to Land Charges Register) 
 
Officers with enforcement powers:  
  

Building control officers  

Planning enforcement officers  

Highway works inspectors  

 
Enforcement duties are carried out as part of different engineering roles, requiring a range of 
different skillsets. Some of these roles are only part enforcement focused and so have other 
functions. Enforcement staffing is therefore difficult to quantify. The Panel were advised that income 
in terms of fines was hard to quantity and varied, but the revenue income was very low.  
 
Parking  
 
Bracknell Forest Council is responsible for 
parking enforcement on its streets and in its 
car parks using the civil parking enforcement 
powers provided by the Traffic Management 
Act 2004. It is also responsible for the 
operation and management of the Council 
owned car parks and both these functions are 
undertaken by contractors (NSL Ltd) working 
on behalf of the Council. Revenue to the 
Council for Penalty Charge Notices (PCNs) is 
approximately £65k per year. 
 

NSL Ltd: 
 

• distinctive blue uniforms 
• an identification number and 

badge  
• serve PCNs to vehicles parked 

illegally 
• do not get incentives for issuing 

tickets enforce parking 
regulations: 

• PCNs processed end to end by 
NSL 

  NSL Contracted Staff  

Civic Enforcement Officers 
Cleaners  
Supervisor  
Senior Supervisor 
Client Account Manager  

 
75



 

It is recognised by senior officers and by the Executive portfolio holder that the contract with NSL 
has seen improvements in parking enforcement within the borough. The Panel was also pleased to 
discover postal PCNs had recently been introduced as a means of allowing officers to issue tickets 
quicker.  
 

In response to Covid-19 restrictions, NSL provided the Council with Covid 
Ambassadors to advise and support members of the public and businesses on 
following social distancing rules. Their success was recognised last year when 
Bracknell Forest Council and NSL were given a British Parking Award in the ‘a 
positive response to the pandemic’ category. 

 
 
Public Protection Partnership 
 
The Public Protection Partnership (PPP) is a shared service delivering Environmental Health, 
Licensing and Trading Standards on behalf of two authorities Bracknell Forest Council and West 
Berkshire Council.  
 
These services encompass a wide range of areas of responsibility.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The PPP’s priorities are informed by the assessment of evidence from across a wide range of 
sources which include assessment of resident concerns, council and national priorities as well as 
emerging issues.  
 
The priorities of the PPP are: 

• community protection 
• protecting and improving health 
• protection of the environment 
• supporting prosperity and economic growth 
• effective and improving service delivery  
• partnership working. 

 
Senior officers explained that the PPP aims to make it clear how they operate and show why it does 
the work it does as they identify communication and transparency as key to the partnership’s 
success. They explained that each project undertaken should be linked back to an evidence-based 
approach.  
 
There are approximately 100 officers covering the Bracknell Forest and West Berkshire areas. Being 
part of the PPP provides the Council with not only greater resilience when resources are stretched 
but also greater access to specialist officers. There is also a shared Trading Standards Service with 
Wokingham who also buy into the PPP case management and intelligence functions. Due to the 

• Air quality management                                   
• Animal warden
• Animal welfare
• Contaminated land
• Communicable diseases
• Community education
• Community mediation
• Consumer advice
• Environmental nuisance 

protection
• Fair trading
• Financial investigations
• Fraud and counterfeiting
• Food safety
• Gambling
• Health and safety at work

• Health promotion
• Industrial pollution
• Licensing
• Metrology
• Overloaded vehicles
• Pest control
• Petroleum and explosives
• Primary Authority
• Private sector housing
• Product safety
• Public health
• Rogue trading
• Scams
• Taxi licensing
• Underage sales 
• Water supplies

76



 

nature of these types of enforcement services it would be difficult to further integrate them. To keep 
services as they are within the PP would be cost effective for the Council.  
 

The PPP have their own case management function who have had a high 
level of success in pursuing criminal actions. These have resulted in 
publicity which in turn acts as a deterrent for to those considering 
offending. Therefore, it is recommended that good enforcement across 
the Council is regularly publicised for the reasons set out above. It is also 
recommended that the Council develops the PPP’s drive for transparency 
by ensuring regular educational campaigns on enforcement are run for 
residents. This will help to tackle local misinformation on enforcement 
while increasing awareness of rules and regulations across the borough.  

 
Services under the PPP were put under immense pressure during the Covid-19 pandemic. Due to 
its fluidity in structure and design the service was able to adapt and react to the challenges the crisis 
saw emerge. Covid is just one such example of a fast-emerging issue from over the years that have 
required the PPP to not only be flexible but resilient and resourceful too. Other examples include the 
Foot and Mouth outbreaks in the 2000’s. By design the PPP must be able to adjust its plans for such 
eventualities and the partnership has so far proved itself to be responsive when faced with quickly 
changing demands. 
 
A Joint Working Approach 
 
Enforcement cases often require crossover between teams and services and the Panel discovered 
this is regularly the case within the borough. For example, teams across services of the Council 
often work together on ‘problem sites’ – particular sites that have been identified as having multiple 
sets of enforcement related issues.  Officers from different services will coordinate and seek to work 
closely by meeting regularly to tackle ‘problem sites’.  
 
Teams within the PPP regularly coordinate with other officers at Bracknell Forest Council. PPP 
officers within environmental health will work closely with the Council’s Highways and the Planning 
teams on issues of air quality. For instance, the PPP is working closely with Civil Enforcement 
Officers to tackle car idling near schools. On issues concerning street trading, appropriate officers 
from the PPP’s licensing team will collaborate with officers from Highways and Planning. Examples 
of joint working between officers from the PPP and from the Council are not limited to these two and 
the Panel was pleased to hear there were many more.  
 
External Partnerships 
 
Bracknell Forest Council has a good working relationship with the Local Fire Authority. On 
enforcement the Council has signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Royal Berkshire 
Fire Authority (RBFRS), alongside other borough councils in the county. The objective of the MoU is 
to ensure appropriate standards of fire safety and other safety provisions are provided and 
maintained in high and medium rise flats common to both the local authority and RBFRS areas. It 
also aims to establish a joint working team to carry out joint inspections.  
 
Due to the specialist issues the different teams cover within the three main areas of the PPP, they 
regularly coordinate with a wide range of other partners outside the Council.  
 

 
 

77



 

Fly tipping has increasingly become a challenging issue both nationally and locally. In the Bracknell 
area there are, on average, 25 reports a week of fly tipping.  In response, the PPP has recruited an 
enviro-crime officer as well as introduced CCTV at local hotspots. In addition to this, the PPP has 
worked alongside several Thames Valley teams, The Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency and 
HMRC on operations designed to tackle a variety of enforcement issues, including fly tipping. As a 
result of these campaigns there are now currently a significant number of enviro-crime related 
investigations being undertaken and several files are with the PPP case management unit for 
progressing through to court.  
 
Integrated Enforcement at other local authorities  
 
The Panel quickly discovered the term integrated enforcement can be interpreted in many ways, 
particularly in a local authority setting. For some authorities it can mean the merging of all 
enforcement services together under one structure while for others it could simply mean the 
introduction of a single integrated enforcement policy. This is because enforcement can be highly 
complex and so there isn’t a ‘one size fits all’ model. 
 
By speaking to the Assistant Director of Community Safety at the Royal Borough of Greenwich, the 
Panel discovered Greenwich had recently adopted what was described as a ‘hybrid model’. At 
Greenwich integrated enforcement was reflected not only in their approach to enforcement but they 
also have a more integrated service design in order to reduce delays caused by silo working. Most 
enforcement cases will require some crossover between services, and this can cause unnecessary 
delays as cases are often ‘ping-ponged’ back and forth between teams. To tackle this, Greenwich 
has introduced a process where a team will take ownership from start to finish of a case, ensuring 
they regularly follow up cases once they are with different teams. Responsibility for an enforcement 
case is decided on a case-by-case basis.  
 

The Royal Borough of Greenwich has received several plaudits for its joint 
enforcement work, including a Met Police Excellence Award 2021 for ‘Safer 
Neighbourhood Team of the Year’ due to its outstanding productivity, performance, 
and partnership working.  

 
Other local authorities such as Spelthorne Borough Council and Reigate and Banstead Borough 
Council have introduced a Joint Enforcement Team (JET). The JETs see council officers working 
collectively with the police to combat local issues such as noise, anti-social behaviour and low-level 
crime. The JET team at Reigate and Banstead Borough Council is made up of five CSAS accredited 
officers. They act as a point of contact and have been described as “enforcement coordinators”. 
Most of their cases are related to environmental crime.  
  

Good enforcement practices shared by all the aforementioned borough councils 
include:  
• Regular formal meetings between all enforcement teams to reflect and review 

ongoing enforcement challenges as well as share relevant intelligence  
• A collaborative culture exists. Officers actively seek to work closer with internal 

and external partners to ensure cases are solved both efficiently and quickly 
• An enforcement officer usually takes responsibility of a case from start until finish 

to avoid delays caused by silo working 
 
It is recommended that the Council introduces an allocation process where a 
team or officer is assigned as the lead for the duration of an enforcement case. 
It is also recommended that the Council develops enforcement strategies that 
encourage greater collaboration across services and with partners. Upon 
strengthening their knowledge of good enforcement practices at other local 
authorities the Panel feel these recommendations will complement and 
enhance existing enforcement activities within the borough.  

 
A further consideration highlighted during the Panel’s work on integrated enforcement at other 
Councils is the importance of Executive Members’ and Officers’ buy-in to an integrated enforcement 
model as a means of improving local enforcement.  
 78



 

CSAS 
The Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) allows organisations and their employees to 
be given targeted police powers by the Chief Constable. There are currently over 40 powers 
available to an Accredited Person which are set out in Schedule 5 of the Police Reform Act 2002. 
These include issuing fixed penalty notices for various low level offences, power to control traffic and 
the power to require giving of name and address. 
 
The Chief Inspector advised the Panel that the CSAS allows for greater partnership working 
between the police and local organisations. The scheme creates a framework for public and private 
bodies to work in partnership with the police, providing additional uniformed presence in 
communities and capitalising on the skills and information captured by those already engaged with 
the community. 
 

Benefits of CSAS 

 Allows for a closer working relationship between the Council and TVP 

 Raises priority of community safety 

 Increasing uniformed presence on the streets 

 Reductions in a range of local issues such as street drinking and dog fouling 

 Public reassurance 

 Enhanced intelligence sharing 

 Save police valuable time 

 
Thames Valley Police have seen council schemes introduced at Cherwell District Council and Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Council. Both have accredited warden schemes which are 
working well. Furthermore, the CSAS accredited JET officers at Spelthorne have experienced some 
success with the scheme. As a result of enforcement officers having CSAS powers, they have been 
able to ensure convictions for serial fly-tippers and the seizure of fly-tippers vehicles. 
 
 Registration CSAS costs are as below: 
          Organisation fee for set up: nil 
          Individual fee: £75 per person for Level 2 Vetting (usually valid for 3 years)  
 
Further to an application, the staff seeking accreditation will be required to undergo police vetting 
checks and complete a CSAS training course with an approved training provider, before they can be 
accredited.  The cost of the training will be met by the organisation seeking accreditation.  The 
training will cover the specific powers that are being requested together with other elements such as 
personal safety and conflict resolution. Costs for the training course vary depending on the provider, 
also the number of employees, no of power being accredited. CSAS training lasts for 5-7 days.  
 
It is a police decision which powers would be appropriate after close consultation between the 
organisation and the police. They will need to consider: 
 
CSAS Considerations 
 
 

 Organisation applying has a satisfactory complaints procedure 

79



 

 The organisation applying has a fit and proper supervisory/management structure to 
oversee the accredited person 

 The organisation must be suitable to exercise the accredited powers 

 The organisation applying has a fit and proper supervisory/management structure to 
oversee the accredited person 

 The organisation must be suitable to exercise the accredited powers 

 The employee must be capable of executing the tasks provided by the accredited powers 

 The employee must have received appropriate CSAS training – this is the employer’s 
responsibility  

 
It is recommended that the CSAS is introduced at Bracknell Forest Council. 
By doing so officers will be able to further strengthen their joint working 
approach while reassuring residents the Council aims to ensure the borough 
is a safer, cleaner and happier borough to live in. Any introduction of the 
CSAS must be accompanied by a public awareness campaign of the scheme.  

Financial considerations  
These recommendations will mean additional responsibilities are to be added to existing employees’ 
workloads.  
 
All costs (including training) will be contained within existing budgets but if they exceed these they 
will be highlighted as budget pressures and additional funding will be requested as part of the 
annual budget cycle. Some costs may well be offset through additional income gained by 
enforcement activity.  
 
  

80



 

Review Panel 
Councillor Angell Councillor Mrs Ingham 

Councillor Allen Councillor Kirke 

Councillor Brossard Councillor Mrs McKenzie-Boyle (Vice 
chair) 

Councillor Brown Councillor Porter (Chair) 

Councillor Ms Gaw Also attending: Councillor Temperton 

Contributers to the review 

Andrew Hunter Executive Director: Place, Planning and Regeneration, 
Bracknell Forest Council  

Damian James Assistant Director: Contract Services, Bracknell Forest 
Council 

Sean Murphy  Head of Public Protection Partnership  

Louise Watkins Head of Service: Parking Management & Leisure, Bracknell 
Forest Council 

Alison Beynon Strategic Manager, Public Protection Partnership 

Helen Kenny Chief Inspector, Thames Valley Police 

Sean McDermid Assistant Director: Community Safety & Environmental 
Health, Royal Borough of Greenwich 

Councillor Colin Dudley Chairman, Royal Berkshire Fire Authority 

Wayne Bowcock Chief Fire Officer, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Tregear Thomas Area Manager, Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

Councillor John Harrison Executive Member for Culture, Delivery and Public 
Protection 

Councillor Chris Turrell Executive Member for Planning & Transport 

Ben Murray Senior Manager for Regulatory Services, Reigate and 
Banstead Borough Council  

Martin Cole Neighbourhoods Manager, Spelthorne Borough Council 

Joey Gurney  Governance and Scrutiny Officer, Bracknell Forest Council 

 

81



This page is intentionally left blank



Initial Equalities Screening Record Form 
 

Date of Screening: May 2022 
and updated following the 
review recommendations in 
June 2022 

Directorate: Delivery Section: Democracy and Governance 

1.  Activity to be assessed Overview and Scrutiny Panel for Environment and Communities review into Integrated Enforcement. This review will consult 
with witnesses from local enforcement partners, council officers and representatives from other local authorities. 

 

2.  What is the activity?  Policy/strategy    Function/procedure     Project     Review     Service    Organisational change 

3.  Is it a new or existing activity?  New  

4.  Officer responsible for the screening Joey Gurney, Governance & Scrutiny Officer 

5.  Who are the members of the screening team? Joey Gurney, Paris O'Keeffe-Johnston, Cllr Porter, Cllr Mrs McKenzie-Boyle   

6.  What is the purpose of the activity? The purpose of the activity is to determine whether a more integrated approach to enforcement could lead to improvements 
across Bracknell Forest.  

7.  Who is the activity designed to benefit/target?  All residents. 

Protected Characteristics 

 

Please 
tick 

yes or 
no 

Is there an impact? 

  

What evidence do you have to support this? 

 

8. Disability Equality – this can include physical, 
mental health, learning or sensory disabilities and 
includes conditions such as dementia as well as 
hearing or sight impairment. 

 N No impact identified.  The recommendations will not impact disability equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities. 

9.  Racial equality  
 

 N N No impact identified. 

 

The recommendations will not impact racial equality but 
should have an overall positive impact on all groups by 
improving enforcement structures and activities. 

10. Gender equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact gender equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities. 

11. Sexual orientation equality 

 
 N No impact identified.  The recommendations will not impact on sexual 

orientation equality but should have an overall positive 

83



impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

12. Gender re-assignment 
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on gender re-
assignment equality but should have an overall positive 
impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities. 

13. Age equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on age equality 
but should have an overall positive impact on all groups 
by improving enforcement structures and activities.  

14. Religion and belief equality  
 

 N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on religion and 
belief equality but should have an overall positive impact 
on all groups by improving enforcement structures and 
activities.  

15. Pregnancy and maternity equality   N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on pregnancy and 
maternity equality but should have an overall positive 
impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

16. Marriage and civil partnership equality   N No impact identified. The recommendations will not impact on marriage or 
civil partnership equality but should have an overall 
positive impact on all groups by improving enforcement 
structures and activities.  

17. Please give details of any other potential 
impacts on any other group (e.g. those on lower 
incomes/carers/ex-offenders, armed forces 
communities) and on promoting good community 
relations. 

No other impact has been identified.  

18.  If an adverse/negative impact has been 
identified can it be justified on grounds of 
promoting equality of opportunity for one group or 
for any other reason? 

N/A 

19. If there is any difference in the impact of the 
activity when considered for each of the equality 
groups listed in 8 – 14 above; how significant is the 
difference in terms of its nature and the number of 
people likely to be affected? 

N/A 

20. Could the impact constitute unlawful 
discrimination in relation to any of the Equality 
Duties? 

 N  

84



21.  What further information or data is required to 
better understand the impact? Where and how can 
that information be obtained? 

 

We considered a wide range of data from local and national sources. This was collated in an evidence pack which is 
available on BFC website.  

 

 

22.  On the basis of sections 7 – 17 above is a full 
impact assessment required?  

 N  

23. If a full impact assessment is not required; what actions will you take to reduce or remove any potential differential/adverse impact, to further promote equality of 
opportunity through this activity or to obtain further information or data?  Please complete the action plan in full, adding more rows as needed. 

Action Timescale Person Responsible Milestone/Success Criteria 

See recommendations contained in report. 

 

 

 

 

Cllr Porter 

 

 

Recommendations are endorsed by the O&S Commission and 
agreed by the Executive. 

24.  Which service, business or work plan will these actions be 
included in? 

Overview & Scrutiny Commission work plan 

25. Please list the current actions undertaken to advance 
equality or examples of good practice identified as part of the 
screening? 

Please see recommendations contained in the report. 

26. Assistant director’s signature. Signature:                                                                                               Date: 27 June 2022 

 
 

85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Child Criminal Exploitation 
Education, Skills and Growth Overview & Scrutiny Panel 
Reason for review 
The Bracknell Exploitation Annual Report 2021/22 noted significant multi agency work in 
Bracknell Forest to tackle county lines drug dealing. In this period, there was one county 
drugs line active in Bracknell that was known to have exploited children to move drugs. 
Services did not identify any instances where children had been trafficked outside the 
borough to be exploited as drug mules or runners, and there were no known missing children 
linked to child criminal exploitation (CCE). There were two arrests for possession with intent 
to supply class A drugs for children in Bracknell. 
 
The reductions suggest the problem profile is now largely confined to the town itself. In 
response to the emerging intelligence picture of more localised CCE, this review will look at 
how effective local networks, partnerships and responses are in tackling it.  
 
The review will look at any changes to CCE activity as a result of the pandemic. In March 
2021, a National Youth Agency reporti on county lines identified that: 
 

• There is an increasing trend for gangs to target vulnerable children and young people 
in county-towns, as well as moving young people across county boundaries 

• There is a lack of sufficient youth services and support for young people in many of 
the county towns and rural areas, with a concentration of diversionary projects in the 
urban cities where gangs operate from. 

   
This also points to more localised CCE activity and the need to ensure effective community 
and partnership responses. 
 
The Bracknell Forest Makesafe is a small team comprising a manager, a specialist social 
worker and specialist family worker. The team undertakes direct work with children at risk of 
exploitation. In 2021/22 the Council’s Makesafe team reported that the number of vulnerable 
children assessed as Level 3 (evidence of active exploitation) had halved from the previous 
year. 
 
The changes are: 
 
 2020/21 2021/22 
Assessed as Level 1 
(Vulnerabilities to exploitation but 
no indications child is being 
groomed) 

51% 67% 

Assessed as Level 2 (Indicators 
that the child is being groomed for 
the purposes of exploitation)  

24.5% 22% 

Assessed as Level 3 (Evidence of 
active exploitation.) 

24.5% 11% 

 
The reduction in level 3 cases creates a shift towards more awareness raising and 
preventative support for young people. This review will look at the role of the community and 
business in this early help. 

87

Item 9



 
The Makesafe team noted that “nothing has been usual for children since the pandemic 
began. The goal is to move forward collaboratively to make Bracknell Forest as safe as it can 
be for children as they regain some of the opportunities lost in covid”.  This review aims to 
support that goal by considering key aspects of safeguarding and scrutinising how effective 
they are. 
 
Objectives/scope 
 
The review will look at: 
 

1. Contextual safeguarding  
• assess whether best use is made of the communities and businesses in 

Bracknell Forest to address the issues associated with child exploitation 
• analyse the effectiveness and impact of activities designed to educate 

businesses and the community about child exploitation 
• understand how businesses and community groups are/can be included in a 

strategic response to child exploitation 
• consider the effectiveness of the Bracknell Safer Spaces Scheme and any 

changes required following the town centre regeneration 
• what is the local understanding of new gateways, such as the increase of 

vaping and vape shops? 
• as community leaders, how can councillors support a strong safeguarding 

approach amongst our communities?  
 

2. Transitional safeguarding 
• how consistent and effective is safeguarding support for vulnerable young 

people particularly as they transition from 18 to 25 years old? 
 

3. Links between exclusion and exploitation 
• understand the impact of exclusion on the risk of exploitation 
• assess the effectiveness of strategies for keeping children in school and away 

from harm 
• assess the effectiveness of recovery strategies to bring previously excluded 

and exploited children back into education or training   
 
The review will consider how a range of partners, including public health, parks and 
countryside teams, local police force, schools and local businesses work together to reduce 
opportunities for exploitation. It will also look at other local authorities and organisations to 
identify and share good practice relating to these areas. 
 
The review will seek to understand how the voices of children and young people are included 
in shaping the local approach, and will include the experience of children and young people in 
its research.   
 
Delivery methods:  

• Interviewing services and partners 
• Hearing the voice of young people 
• Desktop review of relevant data 
• Consulting other local authorities to understand their approach 

88



 
Council theme: Education and skills, 
Communities 
 

Council team:  
Makesafe 

Review due:  February 2023 Proposed by:  
Councillor Mrs Gill Birch 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
The LGA recognisesii that some children may be at greater risk of exploitation than others. 
These include: 
 

• Children Looked After  
• Children living in poverty 
• Children with special educational needs and disabilities 
• Children who are not UK citizens or do not have immigration status 
• Children with poor mental health and wellbeing 

 
The review will ensure these groups in particular are included and considered. 
Financial and legal implications 
There are potentially legal and financial implications of any recommendations arising from this 
review which will be fully addressed in the review report.    
 
Climate Change implications 
The implications of any recommendations arising from this review will be fully addressed in 
the review report.   

 

 
i Between the lines (nya.org.uk) 
ii Tackling child exploitation: resources pack | Local Government Association 

89

https://www.nya.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Between-the-lines-amended-2022.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/tackling-child-exploitation-resources-pack


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of previous meeting
	6 Public Health Update
	7 Council Plan Overview Report
	Section 1: Chief Executive’s Commentary
	Section 2: Budget Position
	Section 3: Strategic Themes
	Value for money
	Economic resilience
	Education and skills
	Caring for you and your family
	Protecting and enhancing our environment

	Section 4: Corporate Health
	a) Summary of People
	b) Summary of Complaints
	c) Strategic Risks and Audits


	8 Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Panel Report: Integrated Enforcement
	Integrated Enforcement Report
	Integrated Enforcement EIA

	9 Work Programme Update

